THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000943

RECEIVED

NOV 27 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Dr. Gregg N. Battersby, Appellant,

v.

Pamela Reid, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company and John Wiles, Defendants,

Of whom State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company and John Wiles are the
Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dr. Gregg Battersby
7800 Hwy. 81 South
Starr, South Carolina 29684
(864) 570-0077
Pro se, Appellant

Atty. Charles Norris
151 Meeting Street/ Sixth Floor
Charleston, South Carolina 29401-2239
(843) 853-5200

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT HAD NO CONTRACT WITH RESPONDENTS?
- 2) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT'S ORAL CONTRACT WAS UNENFORCABLE?
- 3) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT RESPONDENTS DID NOT MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT TO APPELLANT?
- 4) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT COULD NOT HAVE DETRIMENTALLY RELIED ON ANY STATEMENT OF RESPONDENTS?
- 5) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT CANNOT ESTABLISH THAT HE HAD NO WAY OF KNOWING THAT RESPONDENTS WOULD NOT PAY HIM DIRECTLY FOR REID'S BILLS?
- 6) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT CANNOT ESTABLISH DETRIMENTAL RELIANCE ON ANY STATEMENT MADE BY RESPONDENTS FOR NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION AND NEGLIGENCE?
- 7) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT CANNOT ESTABLISH JUSTIFIABLE RELIANCE ON THE STATEMENT MADE BY RESPONDENTS?
- 8) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OPINING THAT RESPONDENTS HAD NO PECUNIARY INTEREST IN WHETHER PAYMENT WAS ISSUED DIRECTLY TO APPELLANT OR REID FOR NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION AND NEGLIGENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed this Complaint against Respondents on December 5, 2017. The causes of action are breach of contract, fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and negligence. Respondent filed an answer on December 28, 2017. Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on February 26, 2018. Respondent filed its Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment on April 6, 2018. This Memorandum was not filed at least 10 days before the hearing under South Carolina Civil Rules 56(c). On April 12, 2018, a hearing was held on the motion. At the hearing, the court did not let Appellant present his entire position. The court told Appellant to hurry up because the court was running late. (R. p. 132, ll. 10-11). The court granted Respondents motion at the hearing without any further consideration. The Appellant served this appeal on Respondent on May 17, 2018. The trial court order did not address any cause of action outside of the breach of contract with any specificity. Appellant is drafting this brief using Respondents' Memorandum for their Motion for Summary Judgment as a guide. Appellant finds this highly unusual. Appellant is at a handicap in not knowing how to effectively challenge the order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about July 11, 2017, Pamela Reid (Reid) presented herself to Appellant's office with injuries sustained in an automobile accident. Reid stated that on July 10, 2017 she was rear ended by William Calcutt (Calcutt). Calcutt was insured by State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance (State Farm). The claim number was 40-0756-X00. Appellant examined Reid and determined a course of treatment. Appellant initiated a course of treatment that included chiropractic manipulative therapy, manual therapy, and ultrasound treatments. On July 11, 2017,

Reid signed several documents giving an irrevocable lien to Appellant and directing any and all insurance carriers to make payment directly to Appellant for the services rendered to her. (R. p. 95). Those documents also assigned all of Reid's rights, remedies, and benefits to Appellant to the extent of his charges, as well as any causes of action that Reid may have against Calcutt in the event Respondents refuse to pay Appellant¹. And it allowed Appellant to prosecute the claim in Appellant's name. Appellant treated Reid from July 11, 2017 until her discharge on August 14, 2017. Reid's diagnoses are cervical strain sprain, thoracic strain sprain, lumbar radiculitis, and knee strain sprain.

On or about August 15, 2017, John Wiles (Wiles), a claims specialist for State Farm, told Appellant that Respondents would honor the liens signed by Reid and would make payment directly to Appellant out of the settlement. (R. p. 99, ll. 5-7). Respondents sent Appellant an Authorization for Release of Information (Release). The Release requested treatment and billing records from Appellant for Reid's care. The Release permitted "State Farm to investigate, process, and determine the amount payable". (R. p. 101). On August 21, 2017, Appellant forwarded the liens, as well as Reid's records and itemized bill, to Respondents. Since Respondents agreed to pay Appellant, he was prohibited from exercising the option to take over and prosecute the claim in Appellant's name and settle it as he saw fit.

On or about August 24, 2017, Reid reached a settlement with Respondents. Reid agreed to settle her bodily injury claim for \$7,000.00. The settlement included all medical bills of which Appellant's bill was a part thereof. (R. p. 104, ll. 18-25). Wiles told Appellant that Reid told

¹ On August 14, 2018, Appellant used this assignment to settle a claim against another patient. On August 29, 2018, the insurance company for the at-fault driver reached a settlement with Appellant and paid Appellant for his services. See Anderson Summary Court Case Number: 2018CV0410103120.

Respondents to pay her directly for Appellant's services to her. This was in direct violation of the documents she signed. Those documents could not be modified or revoked without written consent of Appellant. Appellant never agreed to modify or revoke the liens. Respondents had been provided with the liens and knew they could not be modified or revoked without Appellant's consent. It should be noted that Appellant has not been provided any proof from Reid that she told Respondents to pay her directly, just hearsay from Respondents. Respondents have provided no affidavits from Reid or Wiles that the conversation ever occurred. In fact, the audio recording between Reid and Wiles, presumably the only communication between the two, makes no mention of Reid saying she wants to be paid directly.

Respondents paid Reid directly for Appellant's services to Reid. This was in violation of their agreement made with Appellant on August 15, 2017 in which Wiles told Appellant that Respondents would pay Appellant directly. Respondents' actions prevented Appellant from exercising his option to take over the claim in Appellant's name and settle or resolve the matter as Appellant saw fit. If Appellant had known that Respondents weren't going to pay him directly, Appellant would have insisted Reid get an attorney to represent her in the claim to protect Appellant's interests.

Reid signed an Irrevocable Healthcare Power of Attorney (POA). This POA directed Respondents to make the check for her treatment payable to Appellant and send such checks directly to Appellant. (R. p. 107). Respondents failed to do so.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence

and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp., 341 S.C. 372, 378-79, 378, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Id. at 379, 534 S.E.2d at 692." See Bovain v. Canal Ins., 678 S.E.2d 422, 383 S.C. 100 (S.C., 2009).

"Summary judgment should be granted only when it is perfectly clear no issue of fact is involved. Koren v. National Home Life Assurance Co., 277 S.C. 404, 288 [284 S.C. 211] S.E.2d 392 (1982); Vaughn v. A.E. Green, Co., Inc., 277 S.C. 392, 287 S.E.2d 493 (1982). On motion for summary judgment, the inferences to be drawn from the underlying facts contained in the record must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. See United States v. Diebold, Inc., 369 U.S. 654, 82 S.Ct. 993, 8 L.Ed.2d 176 (1962); Gardner v. Campbell, 257 S.C. 209, 184 S.E.2d 700 (1971). The papers supporting the movant are to be closely scrutinized, whereas those of the opponent are to be indulgently treated. Spencer v. Miller, 259 S.C. 453, 192 S.E.2d 863 (1972). When a plaintiff is faced with a defendant's motion for summary judgment that is supported by evidence, the plaintiff must show the court the existence of a genuine issue of fact. Taylor v. Alston, 79 N.M. 643, 447 P.2d 523, 29 A.L.R.3d 653 (1968). In such a case, the plaintiff cannot defeat the defendant's motion by relying upon the mere allegations of his complaint but must disclose the facts he intends to rely on by affidavit or other proof. Cir.Ct.R. 44; 73 Am.Jur.2d Summary Judgment Section 23 at 745 (1974); see Epprecht v. Delaware Valley Machinery, Inc., 407 F.Supp. 315 (E.D.Pa.1976)." See Dyer v. Moss, 325 S.E.2d 69, 284 S.C. 208 (S.C. App., 1984).

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT HAD NO CONTRACT

WITH RESPONDENTS.

Appellant entered into a contract with Respondents. "The required elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration. *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of South Carolina*, 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003). "A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, ***oral or written***, or by conduct." *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 483, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct.App.1997). Valuable consideration may consist of "some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered or undertaken by the other." *Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v. Prestwick Ltd. P'ship*, 331 S.C. 385, 389, 503 S.E.2d 184, 186 (Ct.App.1998). A benefit to the promisor or a detriment to the promisee may provide sufficient consideration for a contract. *Shayne of Miami, Inc. v. Greybow, Inc.*, 232 S.C. 161, 167, 101 S.E.2d 486, 489 (1957). If the evidence as to the existence of a contract is conflicting or raises more than one reasonable inference, the issue should be submitted to the jury. *Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 459, 578 S.E.2d 711, 716 (2003). With certain exceptions, ***a contract need not be in writing to be enforceable.*** *Gaskins v. Firemen's Ins. Co. of Newark, N.J.*, 206 S.C. 213, 216, 33 S.E.2d 498, 499 (1945) (noting that if there is a meeting of the minds with regard to the essential elements of a contract, it is immaterial whether the contract is written or oral)." See *Armstrong v. Collins*, 621 S.E.2d 368, 366 S.C. 204 (SC, 2005).

Appellant called Respondents on August 15, 2017. Appellant asked Respondents if they would pay Appellant for his services rendered to Reid. Reid signed documents directing payment to Appellant out of the settlement funds. Respondents became liable for the injuries to

Reid once Calcutt became legally liable for the accident. This obligation was created under the insurance policy issued to Calcutt. Respondents said they would pay Appellant directly for the services provided to Reid out of the settlement. Appellant provided chiropractic care to Reid totaling \$5,045.00. Respondents refused to pay Appellant; instead they paid Reid the \$5,045.00 in violation of the agreement with Appellant.

A contract existed between Appellant and Respondents. Respondents breached the contract with Appellant by not paying him for his services to Reid. Appellant had damages of \$5,045.00. "The elements for a breach of contract are the existence of a contract, its breach, and damages caused by such breach." *S. Glass & Plastics Co. v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 491–92, 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct.App.2012)." See *Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enters., LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 780 S.E.2d 263 (S.C. App., 2015).

Appellant had an oral contract with Respondents. The trial court erred in claiming that no contract existed.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OPINING THAT THE ORAL CONTRACT WAS UNENFORCEABLE UNDER THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

Appellant's oral contract with Respondents falls outside the Statute of Frauds. Appellant had an oral agreement with Respondents to pay him directly for Reid's treatment out of the settlement funds. Respondents admitted that they agreed to pay Appellant directly for Reid's treatment in paragraph 41 of their Answer. A written contract was not required.

Respondents issued an automobile insurance policy to Calcutt that was in effect at the time of the accident. As a part of the insuring agreement it states that "*We will pay damages an insured becomes legally liable to pay because of bodily injury to others caused by an accident*

that involves a vehicle for which that insured is provided Liability Coverage by this policy”.

(R. p. 110). Calcutt was found to have contributed to the collision thus legally liable for Reid’s injuries. (R. p. 111). Once Calcutt became legally liable, Respondents became liable to pay for Reid’s treatment. “It appears to us that the agreement here used upon was not, on the part of the insurer, a promise to answer for the debt, default, or miscarriage by another required by the Statute of Frauds to be in writing. The insurer’s contract is the promise to answer for the debt, default, or miscarriage of the insured as provided in the terms of the policy. That contract is in writing. See *Brown v. Noland Co.*, 403 S.W.2d 33 (Ky.1966); [116 Ga.App. 688] *Ortis v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 2 Mich.App. 548, 140 N.W.2d 791 (1966); *Regus v. Schartkoff*, 156 Cal.App.2d 382, 319 P.2d 721 (1958). We quote from the case of *Ortis v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, supra: ‘Travelers did agree in its written policy with (its insured) to pay certain of (its insured’s) obligations which might arise in the future up to the policy limits. Travelers’ oral agreement with plaintiff was within the limits of its written agreement with (its insured). Furthermore, Travelers’ was settling not only (its insured’s) potential liability but its own possible obligation to pay and its own duty to defend (its insured).’ *The insurer has a financial interest in the claim against the insured even though it only becomes liable to the third party when legal liability is established against the insured, and where the insurer agrees to settle its potential liability as well as the potential liability of the insured, the oral promise by the insurer to settle or pay the claim against the insured is an original undertaking and need not be in writing.* See *Ferst’s Sons & Co. v. Bank of Waycross*, 111 Ga. 229, 36 S.E. 773. As was said by the California court in *Regus v. Schartkoff*, 156 Cal.App.2d 382, 319 P.2d 721 (1958): ‘*The leading and main object of (the insurance adjuster) was not to become surety or guarantor for (their insured), but to*

subserve the purpose and interest of Allstate. Therefore, the promise was an original one and valid, though oral.' See also *Evans v. Griffin*, 1 Ga.App. 327, 57 S.E. 921; *Holt v. Empire Tire & Rubber Co.*, 33 Ga.App. 723, 127 S.E. 803; *Palmetto Mfg. Co. v. Parker*, 123 Ga. 798, 51 S.E. 714; *Harris v. Jones*, 140 Ga. 768, 79 S.E. 841; *Fuller v. Holsomback*, 42 Ga.App. 483, 156 S.E. 460." See *Klag v. Home Ins. Co.*, 158 S.E.2d 444, 116 Ga.App. 678 (Ga. App., 1967). "One test for determining whether a promise to pay the debt of another is within or without the Statute of Frauds is whether the promisor is a surety, only secondarily liable, or has accepted primary responsibility for the debt. *Gulf Liquid Fertilizer Co. v. Titus*, 163 Tex. 260, 354 S.W.2d 378, 382 (1962); Tex. Bus. & Com.Code Ann. § 26.01(b)(2). *If the party is primarily liable, its promise to pay a debt is not required to be in writing by the Statute of Frauds.* See *Gulf Liquid*, 354 S.W.2d at 382." See *Carter v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 962 S.W.2d 268 (Tex.App.-Hous. (1 Dist.), 1998). The oral agreement between Appellant and Respondents did not create any additional liability than what was already in place by the insurance policy with Calcutt. Appellant merely requested that the payment for the treatment rendered to Reid be paid to Appellant and not Reid. Respondents did in fact make this payment to Reid. Respondents were primarily liable to pay for the injuries caused by Calcutt. (R. p. 124, ll. 6-10).

Respondents were settling a business and financial liability of their own. "It is important to determine in each case of an undertaking, which in form purports to be a promise to pay the debt of another, whether it is such fact; for it is well settled that, *if an oral agreement is in effect a promise to pay the debt of the promisor himself, it is not within the statute of frauds, although the incidental result of its performance may be the discharge of the indebtedness of another person.*" *** "Wherever the main purpose and object of the promisor is, not to answer

for another, but to subserve some purpose of his own, his promise is not within the statute, although it may be in form a promise to pay the debt of another.” See Lowrance v. Caldwell, 85 S. C. 94, 67 S. E. 143 (S.C., 1910). “It is important to determine in each case of an undertaking, which in form purports to be a promise to pay the debt of another, whether it is such in fact; for it is well settled that, if an oral agreement is in effect a promise to pay the debt of the promisor himself, it is not within the statute of frauds, although the incidental result of its performance may be the discharge of the indebtedness of another person.’ 20 Cyc. 167, 168. * * *” See Stackhouse v. Pure Oil Co, 176 S.C. 318, 180 S.E. 188 (S.C., 1935). “Whenever the main purpose and object of the promisor is not to answer for another, but to subserve some pecuniary or business purpose of his own, involving either a benefit to himself, or damage to the other contracting party, his promise is not within the statute, although it may be in form a promise to pay the debt of another, and although the performance of it may incidentally have the effect of extinguishing that liability.” See Yracheta v. Stanford (), 120 N. Y. . 117; Cortelyou v. Hoagland, 40 N. J. Eq. 1; Beall v. Board of Trade, 164 Mo. App. 186, 148 S. W. 386.” See Am. Wholesale Corp. v. Mauldin, 122 S.E. 576, 128 S.C. 241 (S.C., 1924). Respondents were contractually liable for the injuries to Reid caused by Calcutt up to the policy limits. The insurance contract issued to Calcutt stated that Respondents will pay for the injuries caused by Calcutt.

Respondents were paying a debt owed by them. (R. p. 136, ll. 8-17).

Respondents were holding the settlement funds to pay for the treatment of Reid. (R. p. 125, ll. 8-17). Respondents paid these settlement funds to Reid in violation of the agreement made between Appellant and Respondents. No written contract is needed when a promisor, Respondents, are holding funds of the debtor, Reid. “Another exception is that *a promise to pay*

a debt out of the debtor's funds or property taken over or held by the promisor is an original undertaking, and the Statute is not applicable to the promise. See the case of Stackhouse v. Pure Oil Co., 176 S.Ct. 318, 180 S.E. 188, and the cases therein cited. Also, see 37 C.J.S. Frauds, Statute of § 18, page 525.” See Campbell v. Hickory Farms of Ohio, 190 S.E.2d 26, 258 S.C. 563 (S.C., 1972).

Appellant’s oral contract with Respondents falls outside of the Statute of Frauds. The trial court erred when it opined that the oral contract was unenforceable under the Statute of Frauds.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OPINING THAT RESPONDENTS DID NOT MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT TO APPELLANT.

Respondents claim that their promise to pay Appellant for Reid’s treatment was not false because Reid told them that she wanted to be paid for her treatment instead of Appellant. Respondents cite several paragraphs from Appellant’s complaint where he references Reid telling Respondents that she wanted to be paid directly. These alleged statements by Reid were obtained from Appellant’s communication with Respondents. Appellant had no direct knowledge of any statement by Reid to Respondents that she wanted to be paid directly. (R. p. 120, ll. 3-10). In fact, Respondents have provided no proof that she ever made such a statement to them. The audio recording between Reid and Respondents makes no mention of Reid wanting to be paid directly. (R. p. 104). This audio recording was the only communication between Reid and Respondents. Respondents provided no affidavits from Reid or Respondents that this was actually said by Reid. If Reid in fact made this statement it would be easy to substantiate. The reason Respondents have no proof is that Reid never told Respondents to pay her directly. To the

contrary, Appellant has documents signed by Reid directing payment for her treatment to go to Appellant. (R. p. 95). These documents are irrevocable and could not be modified by Reid. One can come to one conclusion, which is that Respondents paid Reid against her directions in violation of Respondents' contract with Appellant. This proves that Respondents made a false statement to Appellant.

Respondents did in fact make a false statement to Appellant. The trial court erred when it opined that Respondents did not make a false statement to Appellant.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OPINING THAT APPELLANT COULD NOT HAVE DETRIMENTALLY RELIED ON ANY STATEMENT OF RESPONDENTS.

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