THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000943

**RECEIVED**  
NOV 16 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

DR. GREGG N. BATTERSBY, ..... Appellant,

v.

PAMELA REID, STATE FARM MUTUAL  
AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY and JOHN  
WILES, Defendants,

Of whom State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance  
Company and John Wiles are the ..... Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

Charles R. Norris  
SC Bar No. 004238  
E-Mail: charles.norris@nelsonmullins.com  
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor  
Post Office Box 1806 (29402-1806)

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

As set forth in State Farm statement of the facts, Wiles told the Plaintiff on August 15, 2017 that "if she [Reid] wants us to pay you all directly, we-we certainly can." (R. 99) State Farm therefore never unconditionally agreed to directly pay the Plaintiff his bills to Reid for treating Reid. The numerous assertions in the Plaintiff's brief that State Farm agreed without any condition to pay directly to the Plaintiff the amount of Reid's bills is simply not true.

Contrary to the transcript of the conversation between the Plaintiff and Wiles on August 15, 2017 (R. 96-100), even if the Plaintiff believed State Farm had unconditionally agreed to make direct payment to him for Reid's medical bills, there was no meeting of the minds. In order to have a valid, enforceable contract there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement. Patricia Grand Hotel v. McGuire Enterprises, 643 S.E. 2d 692 (S.C. App. 2007); Nutt Corp. v. Howell Rd., LLC, 721 S.E. 2d 447 (S.C. App. 2011) If the Plaintiff really believed the statements in his brief that State Farm unconditionally agreed to pay Reid's medical bills, but Wiles stated State Farm would pay Reid's medical bills if that is what Reid wanted, there was no meeting of the minds. The meeting of the minds required to make a contract is not based on secret purpose or intention on the part of one of the parties, stored away in his mind and not brought to the attention of the other party. Instead, it must be based on purpose and intention which has been made known or which from all the circumstances should be known. Byrd v. Livingston, 727 S.E. 2d 620 (S.C. App. 2012)

Yet another element missing from the alleged contract between the Plaintiff and State Farm is consideration. Valuable consideration to support a contract may consist of some right and an interest in a profit or benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance, detriment, legal responsibility given, suffered or undertaken by the other. The forbearance to exercise a legal right is valuable consideration. Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v Prestwick Partnership, 503 S.E. 2d 184 (S.C. App. 1998)

There was no right, interest, profit or benefit which accrued to State Farm from an agreement to directly pay the Plaintiff for Reid's medical bills. Nor did the Plaintiff offer any forbearance, detriment from a loss or responsibility given as the bills generated from Reid's treatment had already concluded before the Plaintiff ever spoke with Wiles. As explained further

in this brief, the Plaintiff could not have settled Reid's claim against Calcutt because that would constitute the unauthorized practice of law. Additionally, the very wording of the Plaintiff's contracts with Reid reveal that during the course of the Plaintiff's treatment of Reid and prior to his conversation with Wiles, the Plaintiff was on notice that State Farm might refuse to directly pay him for Reid's bills. For example, the "Assignment of Proceeds" signed by Reid on July 11, 2017 state that she agreed to assign her rights, remedies and benefits to the Plaintiff "in the event a payor refuses to pay Dr. Gregg N. Battersby..." (R. 19) The "Assignment, Lien and Authorization" signed by Reid on July 11, 2017 stated that "in the event my insurance company obligated to make payments to me upon the charges made by this office for their services refuses to make such payments, upon demand by me or this office, I hereby assign and transfer to this office any and all causes of action that I might have..." (R. 20) Finally, the "Lien on my Personal Injury Claim" signed by Reid on July 11, 2017 stated that "I understand that if the insurance company chooses not to honor said lien and refuses to pay Dr. Gregg Battersby directly for the procedures performed that I give Dr. Gregg Battersby, or his assignee, full legal rights to settle my personal injury claim..." (R. 21)

It is undisputed the Plaintiff had no written contract with State Farm. The only enforceable contracts were between the Plaintiff and Reid, contracts to which State Farm was not a party. One not a party to an agreement is not bound by its terms and an individual who is not a party to a contract generally cannot be liable for its breach. Pee Dee State Bank v. National Fiber Corp., 340 S.E. 2d 569, 571 (S.C. App. 1986); Trancik v. USAA Ins. Co., 581 S.E. 2d 858 (S.C. App. 2003)

As noted in the trial court's order granting summary judgement to State Farm, prior to the institution of this lawsuit Plaintiff was aware of the Trancik case as that case was cited in a previous, similar case by the Plaintiff against Allstate in an order dismissing that lawsuit. (R. 2)

As noted by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in Trancik v. USAA Ins. Co., 581 S.E. 2d 858 (S.C. App. 2003), because the Plaintiff's patient had no contractual privity with the insurer, the healthcare provider [here, Dr. Battersby] received no greater right from the patient [here, Pamela Reid] through an assignment and, in spite of the obligations incurred by the patient pursuant to the assignment contract, "mere notification of the assignment was insufficient to contractually bind [the insurer]". 581 S.E. 2d 861, 862

Although Reid purported to make an assignment to the Plaintiff "of all my rights, remedies, and benefits," Reid had no right to sue State Farm itself. Master Clean, Inc. v. Star Ins. Co., 556 S.E. 2d 371 (S.C. 2001); Gaskins v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co., 541 S.E. 2d 269 (S.C. App. 2000) Because Reid could not sue State Farm directly, she could not by assignment vest in the Plaintiff any rights greater than her own because an assignee takes no greater rights than the assignor. Trancik v. USAA Ins. Co., 581 S.E. 2d 858 (S.C. App. 2003); Peterson v. West Am. Ins. Co., 518 S.E. 2d 608 (S.C. App. 1999); Singletary v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 447 S.E. 2d 869 (S.C. App. 1994); Gray v. State Farm Auto. Ins. Co., 491 S.E. 2d 272 (S.C. App. 1997) – assignments from a chiropractor's patients applied only to the carriers of the patients and not the carriers of third parties.

**II. THE ALLEGED ORAL CONTRACT UPON WHICH THE PLAINTIFF'S CASE IS BASED CONTRAVENES THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS AND IS UNENFORCEABLE.**

To be legally enforceable, § 32-3-10(2) of the South Carolina Code requires that a promise to answer for the debt of another must be in writing and signed by the party to be charged. Generally, contracts required by the Statute of Frauds to be in writing cannot be orally modified. State v. McIntyre, 415 S.E 2d 399 (S.C. 1992); Windham v. Honeycutt, 302 S.E. 2d 856 (S.C.

1983) Accordingly, even if the Plaintiff did have an oral contract with State Farm, it was unenforceable because it was not in writing.

The oral contract contemplated by the Plaintiff could only concern payment of Pamela Reid's bills owed to the Plaintiff for his treatment of Reid. In fact, the Plaintiff's complaint sued Reid for breach of contract. (¶ 28-32) (R. 8, 9) Paragraph 35 of the Plaintiff's complaint alleges "State Farm agreed to pay Plaintiff directly **for the services rendered to Reid...**" (emphasis added) (R. 9) Paragraph 37 of the Plaintiff's complaint alleges that "State Farm refused to pay Plaintiff **for his services to Reid.**" (emphasis added) (R. 9) There can be no doubt that the alleged oral contract between the Plaintiff and State Farm concerned the latter's agreement to pay the Plaintiff for his services to Reid. The charges or the debt in question were not charges to State Farm. Rather, they were for the Plaintiff's charges to Reid and, as such, inherently involved a promise by State Farm to answer for the debt of another – Reid. Such an alleged oral contract falls squarely within the Statute of Frauds.

Page 7 of the Plaintiff's brief alleges "Respondents admitted that they agreed to pay appellant directly for Reid's treatment in paragraph 41 of their answer." This statement misquotes paragraph 41 of State Farm's answer which states that "these defendants admit State Farm agreed to pay the Plaintiff directly **if Reid instructed State Farm to do so but that never happened...**" (emphasis added) (R. 27) In fact, the Plaintiff's complaint alleges "Reid later told State Farm not to pay Plaintiff but to pay her instead." (¶ 30) (R. 9) Paragraph 47 of the Plaintiff's complaint alleges that "after Reid finished treatment she told State Farm she wanted to be paid the money owed to Plaintiff for her treatment." (R. 10) Although parties may plead alternative legal theories, parties cannot plead alternative facts. Allegations in a pleading are conclusive against the pleader. Mellon Bank N.A. v. Carroll, 445 S.E. 2d 466 (S.C. App. 1994) Any allegations, statements or

admissions contained in a pleading are conclusive against the pleader and the party cannot subsequently take a contrary or inconsistent position. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Laidlaw Transit, Inc., 559 S.E. 2d 362 (S.C. App. 2001); Town of Kingstree v. Chapman, 747 S.E. 2d 494 (S.C. App. 2013) Having alleged that State Farm agreed to pay the Plaintiff for services rendered to Reid if Reid agreed to have the Plaintiff paid directly (§ 35) (R. 9) and that after Reid finished treatment she told State Farm she wanted to be paid the money owed to the Plaintiff for her treatment (§ 47) (R. 10), the Plaintiff cannot now disavow those factual allegations.

Page 8 of the Plaintiff's brief claims that Calcutt was found to have contributed to the collision "thus legally liable for Reid's injuries." The Plaintiff further argues that once Calcutt became legally liable, State Farm became liable to pay for Reid's treatment. (Plaintiff's Initial Brief, pg. 8) This is not true because Reid never obtained a judgement against Calcutt or even filed suit against him. In fact, had Reid sued Calcutt it is entirely possible a jury could have concluded that some or all of Reid's treatment with the Plaintiff was unnecessary or excessive and returned a verdict for less than the amount of Reid's medical bills.

The Plaintiff argues that the insurer's contract to answer for the debt of the insured is provided in the terms of the policy. (Plaintiff's Initial Brief, pg. 8) In fact, there is no term in the policy issued by State Farm to Calcutt which requires State Farm to pay medical bills incurred by a third party injured by a State Farm insured. Instead, the contract of insurance obligates State Farm to pay damages an insured becomes legally obligated to pay. In fact, the Plaintiff even admitted that no part of State Farm's policy insuring Calcutt stated that State Farm would pay bills owed by Pamela Reid to the Plaintiff. (Plaintiff's Deposition, pg. 39) (R. 147)

The Ferst's Sons & Co. v. The Bank of Waycross and Ortis v. The Travelers Insurance Company cases cited at page 8 of the Plaintiff's brief are inapposite. Ferst, a 1900 decision of the

Supreme Court of Georgia, involved the defendant bank directly agreeing to pay the Plaintiff when the Plaintiff extended further credit to a third party, Lee. Ferst then released Lee from his obligation to Ferst “and looked solely to the bank for payment.” The Supreme Court of Georgia stated that “the promise of the bank to pay to the Plaintiff’s the debt of Lee was an original, and not a collateral, undertaking.” Under these facts there was an obligation of the bank itself to pay the Plaintiff, and not a promise to pay for the debt of another. Here, in contrast, the alleged oral contract between the Plaintiff and State Farm involved no consideration by the Plaintiff to State Farm, did not involve State Farm’s agreement to directly pay the Plaintiff for an obligation of State Farm and, instead, involved an alleged agreement to pay a debt of a third party – Reid.

Ortis, a 1966 decision of the Court of Appeals of Michigan, is also inapplicable. Ortis involved a settlement agreement confirmed in writing with Travelers Insurance Company. The Court held that Travelers was settling not only its insured’s potential liability, “but its own possible obligation to pay and its own duty to defend...” Under these facts, the Court held the Statute of Frauds did not apply. Here, in contrast, the alleged oral agreement did not involve a settlement of Reid’s claim against Calcutt. Instead, it allegedly involved State Farm’s agreement to pay Reid’s medical bills owed to the Plaintiff for the Plaintiff’s treatment of Reid. At no time was there an agreement by State Farm to make any payment directly to the Plaintiff for a debt owed by State Farm directly to the Plaintiff. This case falls squarely within the Statute of Frauds and the trial court properly concluded the Plaintiff’s alleged oral contract is barred by § 32-3-10(2).

**III. STATE FARM DID NOT CAUSE THE PLAINTIFF ANY DAMAGES, NOR DID THE PLAINTIFF DETRIMENTALLY RELY UPON ANY REPRESENTATION BY STATE FARM.**

The Plaintiff’s damages are the unpaid bills of Reid for the Plaintiff’s treatment of Reid. Other than Reid’s unpaid bills, the Plaintiff has no damages.

For the Plaintiff to recover under any tort against State Farm, he must prove that State Farm caused his damages as causation is an element of every tort. Troutman v. Facetglas, Inc., 316 S.E. 2d 424 (S.C. App. 1984); McAlhany v. Carter, 781 S.E. 2d 105 (S.C. App. 2015) When a Plaintiff's damages have occurred prior to the alleged tort – here, Wiles' alleged misrepresentation to the Plaintiff on August 15, 2017 – it is impossible for the alleged tortfeasor to have caused the Plaintiff's damages. Stated otherwise, the alleged tort must precede, not follow, the damages in order for the damages to be caused by the tort. Under these undisputed facts State Farm cannot have caused the Plaintiff's damages.<sup>2</sup>

Related to the issue of causation is the concept of detrimental reliance. The lack of detrimental reliance was one of the grounds for State Farm's motion for summary judgment. Although the trial court's order did not rule that specific issue, the Plaintiff never filed a motion under Rule 59 to request a ruling on that part of State Farm's motion for summary judgment. Accordingly, the question of whether the Plaintiff detrimentally relied upon Wiles' statement to the Plaintiff of August 15, 2017 is not preserved for appellate review because one of the four basic requirements to preserve an issue for appellate review is that the issue must have been ruled upon by the trial court.<sup>3</sup> Bruning v. SCDHEC, 795 S.E. 2d 290 (S.C. App. 2016); Johnson v. Sam English Grading, Inc., 772 S.E. 2d 544 (S.C. App. 2015) In any event, the Plaintiff's reliance on

---

<sup>2</sup> The trial court's order did not specifically address each ground in State Farm's motion for summary judgment, but the Plaintiff never filed a Rule 59 motion requesting a ruling on each specific ground of State Farm's motion. Nonetheless, this Court can affirm the order of the trial court on any ground which appears in the Record on Appeal. REPKO v. Cty. of Georgetown, 818 S.E. 2d 743 (S.C. 2018); I'on, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 526 S.E. 2d 716, 723 (S.C. 2000)

<sup>3</sup> Although the Plaintiff claims at page 16 of his initial brief that the trial court opined that the Plaintiff could not establish detrimental reliance, the court's three page order does not discuss detrimental reliance other than the reference to the fact that the Plaintiff's treatment of Reid concluded before the Plaintiff ever spoke with Wiles. The Plaintiff filed no Rule 59 Motion requesting a specific ruling on the issue of detrimental reliance. Additionally, although the Plaintiff argues at page 18 that the trial court erred in opining that State Farm had no pecuniary interest in whether payment was issued directly to the Plaintiff or to Reid, the court's order made no ruling on that issue even though the lack of a pecuniary interest was one of the grounds for State Farm Motion for Summary Judgment. Again, the Plaintiff did not file a Rule 59 Motion requesting a ruling on this specific issue and these arguments are not preserved for appellate review.

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